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Strategic Report 

Mission and Values 

Introduction 

Cadwyn is a community housing association, working predominantly in Cardiff. We own or manage over 2000 homes. 
We were originally established in 1968. We recently set up a subsidiary company, Igneous Ltd. This is the first year 
that group accounts have been prepared. 

Our mission is “to provide good quality homes and build communities through partnership and innovation” 

Our Vision 

We want to achieve Thriving Communities to be rooted in our community, providing homes and opportunities to 
transform people’s lives for the better. 

Our Offering 

We provide Homes & Opportunities 

Our Purpose 

Cadwyn provides good quality homes and builds communities through partnership and innovation 

Our Values 

Everything we do will be underpinned by how we work with each other using our values of: 

• Fairness
• Kindness
• Honesty
• Respect

Our key Aims 

Existing Homes 

We ensure people live in well managed and maintained homes, which are safe, comfortable and energy efficient. 

New Homes 

We increase the supply of new affordable and environmentally sustainable homes for those in need. 

People 

We work with our tenants and communities so that they thrive. 

Our Business 

We are a successful and independent social business valued for our contribution.
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Strategic Report 

Existing Homes 

• Improve energy efficiency and carbon emissions

In financial year 2020-21, the following Component Replacements were completed to improve the energy

efficiency of our homes:

- 70 properties received new external doors

- 4 properties received new windows

- 31 properties received new boilers/heating systems

In December 2020 Cadwyn submitted a bid to Welsh Government and joined up to the Optimised Retrofit 

Programme (ORP) 2020-21. In March 2021, we received a Grant Award for £244,864 for the installation of PV 

units with battery storage, which will benefit 30 properties in Cardiff. As part of the Award, 44 Cadwyn 

properties will receive a Whole Home Survey and the installation of an Intelligent Energy System. These 

measures will help reduce carbon emissions in our tenants’ homes and help Cadwyn achieve its Carbon 

reduction targets. 

• Maintain WHQS & implement any revisions to WHQS

We submitted our WHQS Afon Statistical Return on 2-2-21, which resulted in a Substantial Pass, which was

an improvement on the previous year. There have been no changes made to WHQS during this period.

New Homes 

• Epc A rated

We accepted handover of 3 EPC ‘A’ rated homes at The Mill, which are part of a pilot scheme with Sero

Homes working to understand new technology to achieving zero carbon homes. The properties benefit from a

ground source heat pump, solar panels, and underfloor heating across the ground floor with no gas supply to

them.

• Increase number of socially managed homes

Throughout the year we received handover of 48 units to manage at the Mill, all rentable at below market

value.  These homes were all let on day 1 of handover, meaning no void loss. 99% of the tenants moving

were very satisfied with the condition of the property when they moved in.

During the year one development, comprising of 6 social housing units, was completed, and handed over.

• Build market homes to cross subsidize social homes

Work continues on 35 open market sales units at The Wharf.   The scheme is anticipated to be completed in

February 2022 and the profit from the sales of properties will cross subsidise the build of social units.   The

work is being carried out by our subsidiary Igneous with any profits being gift aided back to Cadwyn.
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Strategic Report 

People 

• Increase tenant engagement

Tenants have been consulted on key issues such as rent setting and board pay. There was also a full tenant

survey in late 2020 from which an action plan has been developed. The new Tenant Engagement Lead has

led on these projects as well as developing a long-term approach to tenant engagement, along with smaller-

scale engagement activities.

• Reduce repeat homelessness

A new role, New Tenant Coach, has been piloted in the second half of 20/21 so that tenants’ needs can be

identified and addressed early on and to increase tenancy sustainability. Only one tenant was evicted in the

year (for serious anti-social behaviour) with very limited formal action otherwise for arrears and anti-social

behaviour.

We housed a total 145 homeless families this year, 125 within Nightingale House and 20 within Hafan. Each

one of these families received support to ensure their needs were met and equip them with the skills,

knowledge and understanding to successfully manage their own tenancies upon leaving our schemes. Of the

11 families moving on from Hafan, all of them were placed into stable tenancies and no evictions. Of the 101

move-ons from Nightingale House, there were no evictions, with 96 being planned move-ons into stable

accommodation.

Using Cymorth Cymru’s Evidencing Impact of Housing Support Grant, we can show that through the Welsh

Government funding made available through Cardiff Council, our Supported Housing services made a net

saving of £753,360 to public services (Health, Homelessness, Criminal Justice & Social Care).

• Improve wellbeing of tenants and the community

The Financial Inclusion service has made a difference of over £530k to tenants through accessing new

benefits, addressing debts and loans, and applying for grants. This service has been supported by additional

resource via WCVA funding.

Through our in-house employment, training and education scheme, Realise Your Potential, we assisted 94

tenants through the course of the year. Out of this, 74 tenants moved closer to the labour market through

volunteering placements, soft & employability skills, training, and qualifications. Furthermore, we assisted 20

tenants into paid employment, helping to improve their financial and physical wellbeing.

Wellbeing phone calls have continued to be made to tenants during the pandemic with particular focus on

those who are demonstrating particular needs or have limited networks. Mental Health support has been in

need throughout the year and continuing into 2021/22 and funding is being sought to create a Mental Health

Support Worker role within the housing team to try and meet the needs of tenants who are unwell but who do

not currently receive support through the health service through a diagnosed mental health disorder.

At the start of Covid, Nu Life was significantly impacted as donated furniture and deliveries were restricted.

Despite this we continued with the service and secured additional funding. We have seen a significant

increase in demand for this service. We have also managed to continue to support and attract more

volunteers. Despite the effects of COVID, the new management team have developed the service throughout

the year and their impact is visible in the statistics for the period. A development plan has been put in place to

build upon the success this year, including the creation of a Steering Group which will involve key

stakeholders and create opportunities for further funding, greater impact and wider community engagement.
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Strategic Report 

Our Business 

• Financial viability is strong

During the year we successfully secured a £41M, 35-year, private placement from Westbourne to support the

organisations ambitious future growth plans. The funding restructure necessitated the settlement of three

existing loan agreements.

At the start of the financial year, we closed the remaining elements of the Four Walls estate agency and

transferred staff directly to The Mill project. As a result of the team focusing resources directly on The Mill, we

were able to directly reduce void re-let times ending the year with an average re-let time of 4 days,

significantly below the social of sector average of 17 days and the private sector average of 43 days.

• Good Governance & validation

In 2019 we used an external consultant to review our Governance. Over the last 12 months, we have worked

through the associated action plan and alongside this reviewed the CHC Code of Governance. This has

involved work on our governance documents, strategies and policies, as well as improving our internal

controls.

During the pandemic, we had to review our processes on how we carried out our meetings – moving to virtual

- and the information that we provided to the Board regarding the impact of Covid on the business.

This year, we have further embedded our work on internal controls. The role of the Audit Committee was 

extended to include Risk and Assurance. The Committee have oversight of the Board Assurance Framework, 

Risk Register, and our program of Internal Audits. We have also added in some further assurance work by 

asking TIAA (our internal auditors) to undertake quarterly compliance audits and carrying out deep dives 

using internal resource on a number of areas from the Board Assurance Framework, including Calon, Data 

Integrity and Igneous. 

The Board are committed to complying with the existing Community Housing Cymru’s Code of Governance    

and have altered existing practice consequently. Currently, members are unpaid volunteers, receiving only 

legitimate expenses during the year. In 2020/21 this amounted to £nil due to majority of meetings being held 

online during the pandemic (2019/20: £248). 
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Strategic Report 

Our Business 

• High performing staff and board

We undertook a recruitment exercise last year and recruited three new Board members based on the skills

that were deemed to be missing following our Governance Review. This included skills in asset management,

finance, and development. The three Board Members were appointed formally at the AGM in 2020.

Following external advice and consultation with staff, tenants and stakeholders, the Cadwyn Board agreed to

take forward Board Remuneration. Work is ongoing to put in place documentation and processes, and we are

looking to start paying from September 2021.

We have recently undertaken a further recruitment exercise as our Chair of the Board is due to retire in July

2021. We have successfully recruited to this position and await their election at the AGM.

During the pandemic, we have implemented a new learning and development system for staff. This will aid

online training and record keeping.

Our People Strategy and Equalities Diversity & Inclusion Strategy have been formally approved by the Board

and we are working on the associated action plans to embed the learning throughout Cadwyn.

We have been working through the Quality in Equality & Diversity (QED) accreditation with Tai Pawb over the

last 18 months, we recently learned that the judging panel had awarded us the QED. This is being formally

handed over in June 2021.

• A culture of openness, trust and transparency

We have continued holding online monthly staff meetings. The recordings of which are included within the

weekly staff briefings.

We are also in the process of moving to Sharepoint so that staff are able to access documents more easily.

We have sent out a number of staff surveys out over the last 18 months and have used the information to

make changes and take forward the findings in our Cadwyn Connects session. The most recent survey was

regarding Agile Working and staff are now meeting within their teams to discuss this further.

Risk and Uncertainty 

Understanding and mitigating risk is a key Board responsibility. The Executive team review the risk map  quarterly, as 

do the Audit Risk and Assurance Committee. The whole risk register is reviewed twice a year by the Board, although 

the top three risks are reported as part of the Chief Executive update.  Risk movement is highlighted and discussed. 

Capital risk in investment for open market sale will be mitigated by development being carried out in the subsidiary 

company, with a separate board suitably qualified to understand the challenges. Treasury management, tax risks and 

pensions advice are managed by accessing independent consultants.  

Revenue risk is mainly created by the changing welfare reforms that have reduced tenant’s income, on the 

assumption that they would be better off in work. Additionally, the introduction and roll out of Universal Credit paid 

directly to tenants creates uncertainty to our future income. Provisions for bad debts have increased in our budgets 

and our staff members are working hard to support tenants to pay 
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Strategic Report 

Value for money statement 

Cadwyn is committed to delivering the best possible services to tenants and in order to do this it will ensure that Value 

for Money (VFM) is at the core of everything it undertakes. Making money go further enables us to devote more 

resources to achieving and exceeding our business objectives. Providing more quality homes, improving service 

standards, supporting a wider range of activities, and keeping down costs for residents are all key activities to achieve 

VFM and will demonstrate that we understand our costs, tenants and services. This year we have started work on a 

new VFM strategy. The feedback received from the tenant survey has helped shape the first draft of the VFM strategy 

and we will be looking for further feedback from tenants and staff in the new year to finalise the strategy.  

This is the first VFM statement we have included in our annual report and whilst we transition to a new strategy, we 

have adopted TPAS 6 Es approach to VFM to demonstrate the outcomes we have achieved this year. Under each 

one we have included a statement on the commitment and outcome that we want to achieve for each area. 

1. Economy

We will ensure we understand and communicate the costs of running our services

Outcome: Cadwyn will be transparent to stakeholders on the cost of our service

Income generation and savings 

We have generated £160K savings and £26K additional income from the following activities 

Following an external review we closed Four Walls, our private letting agency in April-21.  

Cadwyn completed its first private placement in July-21 for £41M. This has provided long term funding, which has 
reduced our weighted average cost of capital (WACC) and has provided greater stability in interest costs by fixing a 
substantial amount of our loans 

We rationalised our IT systems which has generated significant saving 

We have collaborated with a number of RSLs this year in order to get the expertise required in specialist areas. We now 
have shared resources for H&S, procurement and GDPR.  

This year we purchased a large land bank in Bute Street, Cardiff Bay, which is generating income for meanwhile use 
as a car park.   
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Strategic Report 

Value for money statement 

2. Effectiveness

We will engage with all stakeholders and get feedback on the services we provide to tenants

Outcome: Cadwyn will involve tenants in shaping and evaluating services

Rent affordability 

It is most important that our rents are affordable to all our tenants. We also want to ensure that rents are fair and are in 
line with what tenants expect. There is no universal measure of affordability and we have tried to find a method that is 
simple to apply and understand. This year we implemented a new local rent setting policy. We have used the living rent 
model to assist in determining the affordability of our rent and service charges. Our latest tenant satisfaction survey 
showed 42% thought this was a good way to measure affordability.   

The survey also showed that 77% of tenants were satisfied with rent as value for money and 66% satisfied that service 
charges were value for money. We include service charges as well as the rent charge when assessing overall 
affordability. A summary is provided of average rents and service charges compared to an estimated living rent and 
market rent. 

One-bedroom and bedsits properties are in blocks of flats, some of which attract high service charges, this is an area 
of concern for Cadwyn. Next year the rent on these properties will be frozen. We are also working on an affordability 
strategy which includes a strategic review of the service charges. 
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Strategic Report 

Value for money statement 

Service improvement 

The Housing Services team has worked hard to improve the overall service for our tenants including piloting a new 
Tenancy Sustainability Coach role, investing in a new automated rent collection system, implementing a new phone 
system, introducing a new customer service standard and holding workshops for the ‘Listen, Act Communicate’ to 
improve our tenant engagement.  

Tenant Satisfaction results 

The 2020 Tenant Survey was completed by over 300 tenants in November and December. The full tenant survey 

provides an opportunity for tenants to feed back to us their opinions about a number of areas including the home and 

its security and safety, the value for money of rents, repairs and maintenance, customer service, trust in and 

information about Cadwyn and their neighbourhoods 

Satisfaction was down in all areas and this may reflect how tenants were feeling in late 2020 due to the lockdowns 

that were in place around that time as well the overall effects of COVID on wellbeing, finances and spending more 

time at home which compounds the impact of issues such as ASB. 

The smallest drop in satisfaction was ‘value for money for rent’ (82% to 77%). The greatest drop in satisfaction was 

‘neighbourhood as place to live’ (82% to 70%). 

When asked about affordability, 49% of tenants said that they thought the JRF formula was a good way to work out 

rents but 42% were unsure. Over 60% of tenants knew something about how Cadwyn spends its money but a large 

minority (39%) didn’t know anything. 

A number of recommendations were made to Exec and Board in the report and an organisation-wide action plan is 

being developed to take this forward. 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90%

satisfied with the service they have received from
Cadwyn

satisfied with the overall quality of their home

satisfied with the value for money for rent

satisfied with repairs and maintenance overall

satisfied with their neighbourhood as a place to live

felt the association listened and took their views
into account

Tenant satisfaction rates 2018 - 2020

Satisfaction (2020) Satisfaction (2018)
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Strategic Report 

Value for money statement 

3. Efficiency

We will continually review performance and services we offer and learn from our actions to

achieve  greater efficiency

Outcome: Cadwyn will embed value for money in the organisation

WALES GLOBAL ACCOUNTS VALUE FOR MONEY INDICATORS  

A more detailed review of the indicative VFM indicators that have been published in the All Wales Global Accounts 

are detailed below. The development of a suite of indicators for the sector is a work in progress and is set out below to 

provide some indication of our performance compared to the sector. This provides a good proxy to measure 

performance and trend. 

VFM Indicator 
Sector 

Median 19/20 
All 

Cadwyn 

2018 2019 2020 Trend 

Total operating costs per social housing unit £3,497 £3,316 £3,581 £3,450 

Management costs per Social Housing unit £1,100 £1,563 £1,699 £1,604 

Reactive repair costs per Social Housing unit £1,100 £1,156 £1,075 £988 

Major repairs and component costs per social housing 
unit (Capital Expenditure) 

£691 £755 £618 £770 

Major repairs and component costs per Social Housing 
unit (Capital & Revenue Expenditure) 

£919 £981 £1,342 £1,299 

Bad debts per Social Housing unit £48 -£8 £13 £156 

Weighted average cost of capital 4.24% 3.70% 3.80% 4.19% 

Free cash flow per Social Housing unit £288 £107 £1,102 £1,362 

Gross Arrears/Social Housing turnover 4.47% 4.30% 4.50% 3.25% 

Total Turnover per Social Housing unit £5,610 £5,906 £6,343 £6,722 

Rental void loss per Social Housing unit £66 £55 £70 £79 
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Strategic Report 

Value for money statement 

4. Equality

We will ensure services are fair and accessible to all

Outcome: Cadwyn will deliver on the equality strategy

A great deal of work has been undertaken this year to achieve the QED accolade and Cadwyn is now one of only 5 

RSLs to have achieve it. The QED was awarded after a panel of experts in the field of Equality and Diversity reviewed 

our submission. The evidence provided not only documented the work completed thus far including the work 

completed to create the Equality Strategy but also an action plan that outlines the key areas of work needing focus 

over the coming months and years. Already this year, Cadwyn has:  

• Adopted the Rooney Rule for all recruitment

• Developed and Introduced the Equalities Strategy in a true ‘bottom up’ approach

• Formed a staff and tenant Equalities Group which is chaired by a tenant

• Increased training and improved mandatory training programme for all employees around E & D

• Signed the ‘Deeds not Words’ Charter

• Introduced a monthly Equalities topic which is discussed and explored at team meetings and one to ones and
is communicated through weekly CEO internal comms, and social media.

5. Ethos

We will embed the organisation values in value for money

Outcome: Cadwyn will embed values into decision making on services that are provided to tenants

This year we have produced a new VFM strategy. It is currently in draft but is based on TPAS 6Es approach. We will 

use this approach to help shape and assess our performance on VFM going forward. The framework will also be used 

to communicate and embed VFM in the organisation and to demonstrate to our tenants how we are performing. Board 

members and the leadership team have had training on VFM and have fed into the draft strategy. We will get further 

feedback from staff and tenants on the new strategy in the coming year 
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Strategic Report 

Value for money statement 

6. External

We will add value to the communities we serve

Outcome: Cadwyn will demonstrate the benefits we bring to others

Tenant and Community Investment 

Covid has resulted in significant challenges for our tenants, particularly those that are vulnerable. As a result, we 
increased our resources in customer services to support tenants and undertook 1306 welfare calls as well as arranging 
139 food parcels for tenants.  

We have received a total of £75K of funding this year from a number of partners including Admiral, the Local Authority 
and WCVA, which has been spent or is due to be spent on local community projects and tenant support services. 

A further 8 apprenticeships have been secured through our development contracts 

We have also continued to support our tenants and the community through Realise Your Potential, NuLife furniture and 
financial inclusion.  

Realise your potential has assisted 94 tenants, with 74 moving closer to the labour market and 20 tenants into paid 
employment.  

Nu Life has supported 322 families 

Our financial inclusions coaches have made a significant financial difference for tenants totalling £530K. We have 
increased resources in this area to combat the effects of COVID.  

Calon and NH has been a key partner to the LA in alleviating and preventing homelessness. This year we have 
supported and housed 145 families in Nightingale House and 288 families in temporary accommodation, achieving a 
85% and 98% positive move-ons into permanent accommodation respectively.  



Cadwyn Housing Association Limited  
Report and financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021 

12 

Strategic Report 

Prospects for the Future 

The Board has been focused on building a sustainable organisation for the future and laying the infrastructure for 

diversification and growth.  

This year’s budget will come in slightly under forecast.  

Operating surplus has fallen from £2.7m to £2.5m largely due to the ending of two package deals with Cardiff Council. 

The deficit for the year is £1,305K (and £1,402k for the Group), compared to the £1,251k that was forecast.  Excluding 

breakage costs of £2,173K, which was payable due to early repayment of loans, the surplus is £868k compared to 

£922k forecast. This is primarily due to the allocation of resource to revenue as we were unable to carry out capital 

works.  This has been offset by lower bad debts and a positive pension adjustment at the year end.   

The impact of the year’s results has reduced the Associations reserves from £8.7m to £6.1m.  We are forecast to 

achieve a growing surplus over the next 5 years as we invest more into development increasing our unit numbers. 

Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee 

This committee is made up of five members of the Board and is led by a committee Chair. The Committee meets at 

least three times a year. The remit of the committee changed slightly this year to include more focus on risk and 

assurance. The key responsibilities of the Committee are to monitor external audit, internal audit reports, evaluating 

risk and assurance and ensuring that an appropriate control system is in place.  

People Committee 

This committee has been in place for a couple of years and is made up of four members of the Board and is led by a 

committee Chair. The Committee meets as needed. The key responsibilities of the Committee include recommending 

a broad policy on remuneration and terms and conditions for staff, including Executive Team; review compliance with 

the Code of Governance; consider appeals by staff and termination arrangements outside contract of employment. 

Gender pay gap 

The gender pay gap is the difference between the average earnings of men and women, expressed relative to men’s 

earnings.  Cadwyn had in employment 126 (2020: 126) relevant employees as at 31st March 2021; 

2021 62% Female 38% Male 

2020 62% Female 38% Male 

31 March 2021 

Women’s earnings are: 

31 March 2020   

Women’s earnings are: 

Mean gender pay gap 3.61% lower 4% lower 

Median gender pay gap 1.88% lower 6.95% lower 
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Strategic Report 

Statement of Internal Control 

The board is responsible for the Association’s system of internal financial controls which is designed to provide 

reasonable, but not absolute, assurance regarding the safeguarding of assets, the maintenance of proper accounting 

records and the reliability of financial information. 

The Board have established the following procedures in order to provide on-going effective internal financial controls: 

• Written financial procedures with headline delegated authorities which are reviewed annually to ensure

they are fit for purpose.

• Comprehensive system of financial reporting including annual budgets and quarterly management

accounts, to report actual performance against budget and to highlight variances.

• Monitoring of the internal financial controls and procedures by the Association’s internal auditor and (for

the year-end) by the external auditors. These reports are reviewed by Audit Committee and the Board.
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Strategic Report 

Statement of Board responsibilities 

The Board is responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and United 

Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice. The Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 and 

Registered Social Landlord legislation requires the Board to prepare financial statements for each financial year which 

give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Association and of the surplus or deficit of the Association for that 

period. 

In preparing those financial statements, the Board is required to select suitable accounting policies, as described on 

pages 27 to 61, and then apply them on a consistent basis, making judgements and estimates that are prudent and 

reasonable. The Board must also prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is in 

appropriate to presume that the Association will continue in business. 

The Board is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time 

the financial position of the Association and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the 

relevant legislation. 

The Board is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Association and hence for taking reasonable steps 

for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

The Board is responsible for the maintenance and the integrity of the corporate and financial information included on 

the Association’s website.   

In so far as the Board is aware: 

• there is no relevant audit information of which the Association’s auditors are unaware; and

• the Board has taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make itself aware of any relevant audit

information and to establish that the auditors are aware of that information.

A resolution to re-appoint Bevan Buckland LLP as auditors was proposed and approved by the Board on 26 July 

2021. 

The Annual General Meeting will be held on 26 July 2021 

This report has been approved by the Board on 7 July 2021 

Signed by company secretary 
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Independent auditor's report to the members of 
Cadwyn Housing Association Ltd - Group on 
corporate governance 

In addition to our audit on the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021, we have reviewed the Board's 
statement of Cadwyn Housing Association Ltd.’s (“the Association”) compliance with the Welsh Government Circular 
02/10, Internal Financial Control and Financial Reporting ("the Circular").  

The objective of our review is to enable us to conclude on whether the Board has provided the disclosures required by 
the Circular and whether the statement is consistent with the information of which we are aware from our audit work on 
the financial statements.  

We are not required to form an opinion on the effectiveness of the Association's corporate governance procedures or 
its internal financial control.  

Opinion 

With respect to the Board's statement on internal controls assurance on pages 13 and 14, in our opinion the Board of 
Management has provided the disclosures required by the Circular and the statement is consistent with the information 
of which we are aware from our audit work on the financial statements.  

Bevan Buckland LLP 
Chartered Accountants & Statutory Auditors 
Langdon House 
Langdon Road  
Swansea 
SA1 8QY 

Date: 

Bevan Buckland LLP 
Chartered Accountants & Statutory Auditors 
Langdon House 
Langdon Road 
Swansea 
SA18QY 

Date: -�� � �'LI 

Bevan::Buckland 
Chartered accountants, tax and financial planners 
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Independent auditor's report to the members of 
Cadwyn Housing Association Limited 

We have audited the financial statements of Cadwyn Housing Association Limited (the parent association) and its 
subsidiary for the year ended 31 March 2021 which comprise the consolidated and Association statements of 
comprehensive income, the consolidated and Association statements of changes in reserves, the consolidated and 
Association statements of financial position, the consolidated cash flow statement and its related notes. The financial 
reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland”. 

In our opinion the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and parent association's affairs as at 31st March 2021 and
of the group’s income and expenditure for the year then ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice;

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014,
the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 and the Accounting Requirements for Registered Social Landlords
General Determination (Wales) 2015.

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the group  in accordance with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to report to 
you where: 

• the Board’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not
appropriate; or

• the Board have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast
significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a
period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Other Information 

The Board are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
Group annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The Board are responsible 
for the other information.  

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise 
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.   

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or 
apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial 
statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude 
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.   
We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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Independent auditor's report to the members of 
Cadwyn Housing Association Limited 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies 
Act 2014 require us to report to you if, in our opinion:  

• a satisfactory system of control over transactions has not been maintained; or

• the parent association has not kept proper accounting records; or

• the parent financial statements are not in agreement with the books of account; or

• we have not received all the information and explanations we need for our audit.

Responsibilities of the board 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities of the Board (set out on page 12), the Board is responsible 
for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such 
internal control as the Board determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial statements, the Board are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the Board either intend to liquidate the group or the parent association or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud 

We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Financial Statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
and then, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, including obtaining audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

We discussed our audit independence complying with the Revised Ethical Standard 2019 with the engagement team 
members whilst planning the audit and continually monitored our independence throughout the process. 
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Independent auditor's report to the members of 
Cadwyn Housing Association Limited 
Identifying and assessing potential risks related to irregularities. 

In identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement in respect of irregularities, including fraud and non-
compliance with laws and regulations, our procedures included the following: 

• enquiring of management, including obtaining and reviewing supporting documentation, concerning the
company’s policies and procedures relating to:

o identifying, evaluating, and complying with laws and regulations and whether they were aware of any
instances of non-compliance;

o detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any actual,
suspected or alleged fraud;

o internal controls established to mitigate risks related to fraud or non-compliance with laws and
regulations;

• discussing among the engagement team how and where fraud might occur in the Financial Statements and any
potential indicators of fraud. As part of this discussion, we identified potential for fraud in the following areas;

o Purchasing in relation to the development and maintenance programmes, including any sales to
connected individuals at below market value;

o The recognition of development and maintenance expenditure in the correct period;
o The rationale of any major fund flows during the period;
o The potential of rent fraud arising as a result of collusion between the asset and housing teams.

• obtaining an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that the company operates in, focusing on
those laws and regulations that had a direct effect on the Financial Statements or that had a fundamental effect
on the operations of the Group, The key laws and regulations we considered in this context included the UK
Companies Act and relevant tax legislation.

Audit response to risks identified 

In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to risks identified included the following: 

• reviewing the financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance
with relevant laws and regulations;

• enquiring of management concerning actual and potential litigation and claims; performing analytical
procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of material misstatement
due to fraud;

• reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance and reviewing correspondence with HMRC;
and

• in addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, testing the appropriateness of journal
entries and other adjustments;

• assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and

• evaluating the business rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course
of business.

We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement team 
members and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations throughout the 
audit. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting 
Council's website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our Report of the Auditors. 
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Independent auditor's report to the members of 
Cadwyn Housing Association Limited 
Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the Association’s members, as a body, in accordance with Part 7 of the Co-operative and 
Community Benefit Societies Act 2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Group’s 
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.  To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the association and the 
association's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Bevan Buckland LLP 
Chartered Accountants & Statutory Auditors 
Langdon House 
Langdon Road 
Swansea 
SA18QY 

Date: -�� � �'LI 

Bevan::Buckland 
Chartered accountants, tax and financial planners 
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Group Statement of Comprehensive Income 

GROUP Note 2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Turnover - continuing activites 2 14,178   17,210 

Less: Operating costs 2 (11,692)  (14,510)

Surplus on sale of fixed assets – housing properties -        - 

Operating surplus: continuing activities 2 2,486     2,701    

Interest receivable and other income 6 -        3 

Interest payable and similar charges 7 (3,826) (1,624)   

Movement in fair value of investment properties 13 - (70)

(Deficit) / Surplus on ordinary activities before taxation (1,341) 1,010    

Tax on ordinary activities 11 (61) -

(Deficit) / Surplus for the year (1,402) 1,010    

Actuarial (loss) / gain in respect of pension schemes 23 (1,340) 1,522    

Total comprehensive income for the year (2,742) 2,532    

The consolidated results relate wholly to continuing activities. The accompanying notes form part of these financial 
statements. 

Historical cost surpluses and deficits were identical to those shown in the income and expenditure account. 

The financial statements were approved by the Board on 26 July 2021 and were signed on its behalf by: 

………………………. ………………………. ………………………. 

Chair Board Member Company Secretary 
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Association Statement of Comprehensive Income 

ASSOCIATION Note 2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Turnover - continuing activites 2 14,200   17,210 

Less: Operating costs 2 (11,670)  (14,510)

Surplus on sale of fixed assets – housing properties -        - 

Operating surplus: continuing activities 2 2,530     2,701    

Interest receivable and other income 6 52 3 

Interest payable and similar charges 7 (3,826) (1,624)   

Movement in fair value of investment properties 13 - (70)

(Deficit) / Surplus on ordinary activities before taxation (1,244) 1,010    

Tax on ordinary activities 11 (61) -

(Deficit) / Surplus for the year (1,305) 1,010    

Actuarial (loss) / gain in respect of pension schemes 23 (1,340) 1,522    

Total comprehensive income for the year (2,645) 2,532    

The association results relate wholly to continuing activities.  The accompanying notes form part of these financial 
statements.  

Historical cost surpluses and deficits were identical to those shown in the income and expenditure account. 

The financial statements were approved by the Board on 26 July 2021 and were signed on its behalf by: 

………………………. ………………………. ………………………. 

Chair Board Member Company Secretary 
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Statement of Changes in Reserves - Group & 
Association 

GROUP ASSOCIATION

Revenue 

reserve

Designated 

reserves

Total 

reserves

Revenue 

reserve

Designated 

reserves

Total 

reserves

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 April 2019 6,087    174 6,261    6,087    174 6,261    

Restatements for changes in 

accounting policy

(42) - (42) (42) - (42) 

Total comprehensive income 2,532    - 2,532 2,532 - 2,532 

Transfer between reserves (5) 5 - (5) 5 -       

At 31 March 2020 8,572    179 8,751    8,572    179 8,751    

Total comprehensive income (2,742)   - (2,742) (2,645)   - (2,645) 

Transfer between reserves 12         (12) - 12         (12) - 

At 31 March 2021 5,842    167 6,009    5,939    167 6,106    
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
Note 2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Fixed assets

Housing properties 12 125,549 120,456 

Depreciation 12 (23,525)   (21,974)   

102,024 98,482    

Other tangible fixed assets 14 1,479      1,543      

Investments 13 1,667      2,220      

Total fixed assets 105,170 102,245 

Current assets

Debtors due within one year 16 1,985      1,352      

Properties for sale and work in progress 15 2,692      52 

Cash at bank and in hand 17 7,412      4,584      

12,089    5,988      

Debtors due after more than one year 16 1,198      1,245      

Creditors: due within one year 18 (5,633)     (30,447)   

Social housing and government grants due in one year 21 (405) (360)

Net current (liabilities)/assets 6,051      (24,819)   

Total assets less current liabilities 112,419 78,671    

Creditors: due in more than one year 19 (46,453)   (16,782)   

Social housing and government grants due after more 

than one year
21 (57,512)   (51,808)   

Defined benefit pension liability 23 (2,445)     (1,330)     

Net assets 6,009      8,751      

Capital and reserves

Share capital 24 - - 

Restricted reserve - - 

Revenue reserve 6,009      8,751      

Total capital and reserves 6,009      8,751      

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 

The financial statements were approved by the Board on 26 July 2021 and were signed on its behalf by: 

………………………. ………………………. ………………………. 

Chair Board Member Company Secretary 
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Association Statement of Financial Position 
Note 2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Fixed assets

Housing properties 12a 125,549    120,456 

Depreciation 12a (23,525) (21,974)   

102,024    98,482    

Other tangible fixed assets 15 1,479 1,543      

Investments 13 1,470 2,220      

Total fixed assets 104,973    102,245 

Current assets

Debtors due within one year 16 2,023 1,352      

Properties for sale and work in progress 15 187 52 

Cash at bank and in hand 17 7,132 4,584      

9,342 5,988      

Debtors due after more than one year 16 4,250 1,245      

Creditors: due within one year 18 (5,644)      (30,447)   

Social housing and government grants due in one year 21 (405) (360)

Net current (liabilities)/assets 3,293 (24,819)   

Total assets less current liabilities 112,516    78,671    

Creditors: due in more than one year 19 (46,453) (16,782)   

Social housing and government grants due after more 

than one year
21 (57,512) (51,808)   

Defined benefit pension liability 23 (2,445)      (1,330)     

Net assets 6,106 8,751      

Capital and reserves

Share Capital 24 - - 

Restricted reserve - - 

Revenue reserve 6,106 8,751      

Total capital and reserves 6,106       8,751      

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 

The financial statements were approved by the Board on 26 July 2021 and were signed on its behalf by: 

………………………. ………………………. ………………………. 

Chair Board Member Company Secretary 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow 
Note 2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Net cash inflow from operating activities 26 2,753         4,841         

Cash flow from financing activities

Loan drawdown 31,979       6,731         

Interest paid (3,764)       (1,489)       

Loan repayments (25,688)      (2,819)       

Cash flow from investing activities

Interest received - 3 

Purchase and construction of housing properties (5,106)       (6,168)       

Component replacements (549) (1,083) 

Proceeds from sale of properties & other fixed assets 87 - 

Purchase of other replacement fixed assets (250) (371) 

Development of properties for sale (1,522)       - 

Social housing grant and other grants received 4,888         2,889 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 2,828         2,534 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 4,584         2,050         

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 7,412         4,584         
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Association Statement of Cash Flow 
Note 2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Net cash inflow from operating activities 26 2,809         4,841         

Cash flow from financing activities

Loan drawdown 31,979       6,731         

Interest paid (3,764)       (1,489)       

Loan repayments (25,688)      (2,819)       

Cash flow from investing activities

Interest received 52 3 

Purchase and construction of housing properties (5,106)       (6,168)       

Component replacements (549) (1,083) 

Proceeds from sale of properties & other fixed assets 1,267         - 

Purchase of other replacement fixed assets (250) (371) 

Loans provided to Igneous Ltd for development of 

properties for sale
(3,090)       - 

Social housing grant and other grants received 4,888         2,889 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 2,548         2,534 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 4,584         2,050         

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 7,132         4,584         



Cadwyn Housing Association Limited  
Report and financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021 

27 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

Legal status 

The Association is a registered under the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 and is a Registered 
Social Landlord with charitable status, registered with the Welsh Government. 

1. Accounting policies

The principal policies are summarised below. They have all been applied consistently throughout the year and the 
preceding year. 

Format of accounts 

The Association is a public benefit entity with a trading subsidiary. The financial statements have been prepared under 
the historical cost convention, modified to include certain items at fair value, in accordance with Financial Reporting 
Standard 102 (FRS 102) in the United Kingdom issued by the Financial Reporting Council and comply with the 
Statement of Recommended Practice for “Registered Social Housing Providers” as updated in 2018 (Housing SORP 
2018), and comply with the Accounting Requirements for Social Landlords registered in Wales General Determination 
2015.  

Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the results of Cadwyn Housing Association Limited and its subsidiary 
Igneous Limited which is also a registered social landlord – 'the Group'.  

The Association has the right to appoint members to the Board and thereby exercise control over the subsidiary. 

The Group accounts consolidate the accounts of the Association and all its subsidiaries at 31 March under the 
requirements of FRS 102. The Association is required under the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 
2014 to prepare Group accounts. The consolidation has been carried out in accordance with current accounting 
standards in order to show the financial information for the Group as a single economic entity. Where any conflict arises 
between the Housing SORP 2018 and applicable financial reporting standards, then the Housing SORP 2018 prevails. 

Turnover and revenue recognition 

Turnover comprises rental income receivable in the year, income from shared ownership first tranche sales, 
amortisation of social housing and other government grants, and other services included at the invoiced value 
(excluding VAT) of goods and services supplied in the year and revenue grants receivable in the year. Rental income 
is recognised from the point when properties under development reach practical completion or otherwise become 
available for letting. Surpluses or deficits resulting from the sale of properties and fixed asset investments are shown in 
the income and expenditure account under surpluses/deficits from the sale of fixed assets. Revenue is recognised 
when sale completion of the property has been achieved. 

Revenue grants are receivable when the conditions for receipt of agreed grant funding have been met. Charges for 
support services funded under Supporting People are recognised as they fall due under the contractual arrangements 
with Administering Authorities. Amortisation of Social Housing and other government grants is accounted for in line with 
the accounting policy. 

Debtors 

Short term debtors are measured at transaction price less any impairment. Loans receivable are measured initially at 
fair value, net of transaction costs, and are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method 
less any impairment. Where deferral of payment terms have been agreed at below market rate and where material, the 
balance is shown at the present value, discounted at a market rate. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

Value Added Tax 

The Group charges Value Added Tax (VAT) on some of its income and is able to recover part of the VAT it incurs on 
expenditure. The financial statements include VAT to the extent that it is suffered by the Group and not recoverable 
from HM Revenue and Customs. The balance of VAT payable or recoverable at the year-end is included as a current 
liability or asset. 

The majority of the Associations business is exempt from vat and the partial exemption method is applied to recover 
the amounts where applicable. The Association has agreed a special method of VAT recovery with HMRC in preparation 
for the work that the Subsidiary company will be undertaking. 

Deferred taxation 

The payment of taxation is deferred or accelerated because of timing differences between the treatment of certain items 
for accounting and taxation purposes. Except as noted below, full provision for deferred taxation is made under the 
liability method on all timing differences that have arisen, but not reversed by the balance sheet date. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods when the timing differences are 
expected to reverse, based on tax rates and law enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred 
tax assets and liabilities are not discounted. 

Interest payable 

Interest is capitalised on borrowings to finance developments to the extent that it accrues in respect of the period of 
development if it represents either: 

a) interest on borrowings specifically financing the development programme after deduction of social housing grant
(SHG) received in advance; or

b) a fair amount of interest on borrowings of the Association as a whole after deduction of SHG received in advance
to the extent that they can be deemed to be financing the development programme.

Other interest payable is charged to the income and expenditure account in the year. 

Pensions – defined contribution scheme 

The Association makes payments to defined contribution schemes on behalf of its employees. The schemes are funded 
by fixed contributions from both employees and the Association. The scheme assets are invested separately from the 
Association assets in independently administrated funds in the names of employees concerned and there is no residual 
liability for the Association beyond remittance of these contributions. 

The associated expenditure is recognised immediately in the statement of comprehensive income in the year in which 
contributions are earned. 

Pensions – defined benefit scheme 

The Association makes payments to defined benefit pension schemes on behalf of its employees. The schemes are 
funded by contributions partly from the employees and partly by the Association at rates determined by independent 
actuaries. The scheme assets are invested separately from the Association assets in independently administrated multi-
employer funds. 

The cost of these benefits and the present value of the obligation depends on a number of factors including life 
expectancy, salary increases and the discount rate on corporate bonds. Management estimates these factors in 
determining the net pension obligation in the balance sheet. The assumptions reflect historical experience and current 
trends. Variations from in these assumptions could significantly impact the liability. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

Housing properties 

Housing properties are principally properties available for rent and are stated at cost. The cost of properties is their 
purchase price together with incidental costs of acquisition and direct costs of the development process. Where 
properties come into the ownership of the Association under Section 106 agreements, these are often purchased at 
below cost price. Where this is the case the cost is increased to the full cost and the difference is shown as imputed 
cost within property acquisitions, with the corresponding balance shown as imputed grant within creditors. 

Housing properties – depreciation is charged on the historic cost of property components. The depreciable amounts 
are written off over the estimated useful economic lives from the date of purchase / build. Freehold land is not 
depreciated. Leasehold properties are depreciated over the remaining period of the lease. 

Properties in the course of construction are stated at cost and are transferred into social housing properties when 
completed. Any incremental overhead costs directly attributable to bringing fixed assets into their working condition for 
their intended purpose are capitalised. Expenditure on the initial purchase of land and buildings is capitalised and 
disclosed as part of properties in the course of construction. 

Works to existing properties which replace a component that has been treated separately for depreciation purposes, 
along with those works that result in an increase in net rental income over the lives of the properties, thereby enhancing 
the economic benefits of the assets, are capitalised as improvements. Where a housing property comprises two or 
more components with substantially different useful economic lives then each component is accounted for separately. 
Expenditure relating to the subsequent replacement or renewal of components is capitalised as incurred. Depreciation 
is charged on cost on a straight line basis over the components expected economic lives. Housing properties are broken 
down into the following three components, structure, windows and roofs. 

Shared ownership properties are not depreciated on the basis that the residual value is likely to be greater than the net 
cost. 

Profit or loss on disposal of property is recognised at the date a sale becomes certain. The profit or loss arising on 
disposal is the difference between the sale price, SHG income previously recognised within income, and the total of 
depreciated cost together with any associated costs of disposal such as legal and valuation fees.  

Depreciation of housing properties 

The Group separately identifies the major components which comprise its housing properties, and charges 
depreciation, so as to write-down the cost of each component to its estimated residual value, on a straight line basis, 
over its estimated useful economic life.  The depreciable amount is arrived at on the basis of original cost, less residual 
value. 

The Group depreciates the major components of its housing properties at the following annual rates: 

Structure – rehabilitated properties 100 years on cost 

Structure – newbuild properties 150 years on cost 

Roofs 150 years on cost 

Electrical Consumer unit 30 years on cost 

Electrical Wiring 30 years on cost 

Windows 30 years on cost 

Doors 26 years on cost 

External works 26 years on cost 

Solar PV 25 years on cost 

Bathrooms 28 years on cost 

Kitchens 19 years on cost 

Heating 18 years on cost 

External buildings - sheds 15 years on cost 

Freehold land is not depreciated.  Properties held on leases are amortised over the life of the lease or their estimated 
useful economic lives in the business, if shorter.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

Social housing grant 

Social housing grant (SHG) is receivable from the Welsh Government (the WG) and is repayable in the event of 
disposal, demolition or change of use to an ineligible activity, save in circumstance where the Welsh Government 
considers it appropriate to reduce the amount repayable. These are designed as a contribution towards the capital cost 
of providing new social housing and are received when a property is developed or acquired.  

Government grants received for housing properties are recognised in income over the useful life of the housing property 
structure under the accruals method. 

SHG due from the WG or received in advance is included as a current asset or liability. SHG received in respect of 
revenue expenditure is credited to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the same period as the expenditure to 
which it relates. 

SHG is subordinated to the repayment of loans by agreement with the WG. SHG released on sale of a property may 
be repayable but is normally available to be recycled and is credited to a Recycled Capital Grant Fund and included in 
the statement of financial position in liabilities. 

Where individual components are disposed of, this does not create a relevant event for recycling purposes. Upon 
disposal of the associated property, the Group is required to recycle the full amount of the original grant received. A 
contingent liability is disclosed in the accounts in relation to SHG amortised to date, due to the potential requirement to 
recycle upon sale of a property. 

Housing finance grants 

Housing finance grants (HFG) are capital grants receivable from the Welsh Government which are repayable to the 
extent that such amounts have been received in the event of the disposal, demolition or change of use to an ineligible 
activity. These are designed as a contribution towards the capital cost of providing new social housing and are received 
in instalments over a term of 30 years commencing once a scheme is approved for development. 

Investment properties 

Government grants received in respect of investment properties are recognised under the performance method. Where 
such grants are not subject to specified future performance related conditions they are recognised as income. Any grant 
received before the revenue recognition criteria are satisfied is recognised as a liability. 

Other grants 

Other grants are receivable from local authorities and other organisations. Capital grants are shown as a liability on the 
statement of financial position. Grants in respect of revenue expenditure are credited to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income in the same period as the expenditure to which they relate. 

Amortisation of grants 

Grants relating to assets are recognised in income on a straight line basis over the expected useful life of the asset. 
Government grants received for housing properties are recognised in income over the expected useful life of the 
housing property structure – over 10 – 100 years. 

Where grants are received in advance they are carried forward as current liabilities to be matched against future capital 
expenditure as it is incurred. Grants receivable in respect of completed schemes or those under construction are 
included as debtors in the financial statements. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

Development costs 

Development costs are capitalised in as much as they comprise purchase price, directly attributable costs to bring the 
properties into working condition for their intended use and incremental costs that would have been avoided only if the 
properties had not been constructed as required. Any other development costs which are not directly attributable have 
been written off to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Accommodation managed by agents 

Revenue grant received in relation to these schemes is included in turnover. A substantial portion of the grant is paid 
over to the managing agent, this expenditure being incorporated in operating costs. 

Managing agents collect rent on the schemes, which are applied by them towards the cost of housing the residents. 
This income and expenditure has been excluded for the accounts of the Association. 

Impairment 

Housing properties, including those with individual components and other assets are assessed whether an indication 
of impairment exists at each reporting date. 

Where there is evidence of impairment, assets are written down to their recoverable amount, being the higher of the 
value in use and fair value less costs to sell. Any such write down is charged to operating surplus. 

Other tangible fixed assets 

Depreciation is provided evenly on the cost of other tangible fixed assets to write them down to their estimated residual 
values over their expected useful lives. No depreciation is provided on freehold land. The principal annual rates used 
for other assets are: 

Other property assets Depreciated at 2% per annum on a straight-line basis.  
Motor Vehicles Depreciated over the term of expected useful life, down to the estimated 

net realisable value, using the reducing balance method  
Office/Property Furniture and 
Equipment 

Office furniture and equipment is depreciated at 15% per annum on a 
reducing balance method. Property furniture and equipment is 
depreciated on a reducing balance method over the anticipated useful 
lives of the assets.  Computer Equipment is depreciated on a straight-
line basis over four or ten years depending on anticipated useful life.  

Capital Plant Depreciated at 25% per annum on a straight-line method 

Depreciation 

Tangible fixed assets, other than investment properties, are depreciated over their useful lives based on various factors. 
The actual lives of the assets are re-assessed on a periodic basis and may vary depending on the standard of the asset. 
For housing property assets, the assets are broken down into components based on management’s assessment of the 
properties and the specific costs incurred in replacing these components. Individual useful economic lives are assigned 
to these components.  
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Leased assets 

Assets held under finance leases are included in the balance sheet and depreciated in accordance with the Group's 
normal accounting policies. The present value of future rentals is shown as a liability. 

The interest element of rental obligations is charged to expenditure over the period of the lease in proportion to the 
balance of capital repayments outstanding. 

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to expenditure on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Hostels 

Nightingale House and Hafan are directly managed family hostels. The rental income and grant monies receivable have 
been included within the supported housing column in note 3.  

Other Hostels are managed by agencies.  Social Housing Grants and other revenue grants are claimed by the 
Association as owner of the hostel premises. The grants are included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and 
Statement of Financial Position of the Association. The treatment of other income and expenditure in respect of hostels 
depends upon whether the Association carries the financial risk. Where the Agency carries the financial risk, the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income includes only that income and expenditure which relates solely to the Association. 
Other income and expenditure relating to the hostels (within this category) is excluded. (See note 3). 

Leasing Schemes – Calon Adref / CanDo Lettings /Temporary Accommodation 

These leasing schemes involve the Association working in partnership with Cardiff County Council and private and 
other social landlords. The Calon Adref and Temporary Accommodation scheme leases family accommodation from 
private and other social landlords. The CanDo Lettings scheme aims to get homeless people rehoused in the Private 
Rented Sector (PRS), speeding up the move-on from hostels and reducing the blocking up of hostel bed spaces.  All 
costs incurred in bringing the scheme on-line have been expended to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Reserves 

The Association’s Revenue (or general) Reserve has built up over several years from annual surpluses generated from 
its core business.  

The Designated Reserve will be utilised to fund repairs (if so required) to those properties currently leased under the 
Calon Adref project, prior to handover back to the landlords (after three years) and properties leased for Temporary 
Accommodation. 

Going Concern 

The Group and Association continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing its financial statements. 
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Properties for sale 

Shared ownership first tranche sales, completed properties for outright sale and property under construction are valued 
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises materials, direct labour and direct development overheads. 
Net realisable value is based on estimated sales price after allowing for all further costs of completion and disposal. 

Investment in Subsidiary 

Investment in the subsidiary is accounted for at cost less any impairment. 

Fixed asset investments 

Investments held as fixed assets are stated at market value. 

Investment property 

Investment properties consist of commercial properties held in connection with regeneration activity. Investment 
properties are measured at costs on initial recognition and subsequently at fair value at the year end, with any changes 
in fair value recognised in income and expenditure. 

Employee benefits 

Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as an expense in the 
period in which they are incurred. 

Apportionment of Employee and Administration Costs 

Costs are attributable to activities where they can be identified and are apportioned to the relevant sections of the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income where such an attribution is not possible. This apportionment is generally made 
in relation to the full time equivalent numbers of staff within each area. 

Holiday pay/flexible working 

Flexible working pay is accrued at each reporting date.  The holiday year was changed in line with the accounting year 
therefore Holiday pay is no longer accrued for at the year end. 

Loans 

Basic financial instruments are recognised at amortised historical cost. Loan arrangement fees are capitalised and 
recognised over the term of the loan through the effective interest rate applied to the loan and amendments there to 
when subsequent fees arise during the course of such loans. Interest on loans is recognised in like manner using the 
present value of estimated future interest payments. 

Provisions for liabilities 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event. 
It is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount 
of the obligation. 
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Significant management judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates 
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments about carrying values 
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. 

Significant management judgements 

The following are management judgements in applying the accounting policies of the Association that have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 

Impairment of social housing properties 

The Association has to make an assessment as to whether an indicator of impairment exists. In making the judgement, 
management considered the detailed criteria set out in the SORP. Specifically this includes whether there is an 
impairment indicator for a cash-generating unit.  For these purposes a cash-generating unit is defined as a property 
scheme.  

Defined benefit pension scheme 

The Association has obligations to pay pension benefits to certain employees. The cost of these benefits and the present 
value of the obligation depend on a number of factors, including; life expectancy, salary increases, asset valuations and 
the discount rate on corporate bonds. Management estimates these factors in determining the net pension obligation in 
the balance sheet. The assumptions reflect historical experience and current trends. 

Categorisation of properties between investment properties and property, plant and 
equipment 

The Association bases this assessment depending on the use of the asset and the level of rent charged. 

Estimation uncertainty 

The Association makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by 
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing 
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are addressed below. 
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2. Particulars of turnover, cost of sales, operating costs and operating surplus

GROUP ASSOCIATION

Note Turnover

Operating 

costs

Operating 

surplus Turnover

Operating 

costs

Operating 

surplus

2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Social housing lettings

General Needs and Sheltered 

Housing 8,600     (6,122)      2,479       8,623     (6,122)      2,501      

Supported Housing 1,002     (1,120)      (118) 1,002 (1,120)      (118)         

3 & 3a 9,603     (7,242)      2,361       9,625     (7,242)      2,383      

Non social housing activities

Leasing Scheme properties 3,118     (3,115)      3 3,118     (3,115)      3 

Other & Commercial activities 1,458     (1,336)      122          1,458     (1,313)      144          

4,576     (4,451)      125          4,576     (4,428)      148          

Total 14,178   (11,692)   2,486       14,200   (11,670)   2,530      

GROUP ASSOCIATION

Note Turnover

Operating 

costs

Operating 

surplus Turnover

Operating 

costs

Operating 

surplus

2020 2020 2020 2020 2020 2020

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Social housing lettings

General Needs and Sheltered 

Housing 8,703     (5,881)      2,822       8,703     (5,881)      2,822      

Supported Housing 1,018     (1,089)      (71) 1,018 (1,089)      (71)           

3 & 3a 9,721     (6,970)      2,751       9,721     (6,970)      2,751      

Non social housing activities

Leasing Scheme properties 3,275     (3,564)      (289) 3,275 (3,564)      (289)         

Other & Commercial activities 4,214     (3,975)      239 4,214     (3,975)      239          

7,489     (7,539)      (50) 7,489 (7,539)      (50)           

Total 17,210   (14,509)   2,701       17,210   (14,509)   2,701      
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3. Particulars of income and expenditure from social housing lettings

Group

General 

Needs and 

Sheltered 

Housing

Supported 

Housing

2021

Total

2020

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Income

Rent receivable (net of identifiable service 

charges)
7,440       492 7,932     7,759    

Service charges income 347 38 385 578       

Income for Support Services - 471 471 471       

Amortisation of grants 405 - 405 376       

Other Income 409 1 410 537       

Commercial Income - - - - 

Turnover from social lettings 8,600       1,002        9,603     9,721    

Cost

Management Costs (1,372)      (1,087)       (2,458) (2,318)   

Service Charge Costs (389) - (389) (475) 

Routine Maintenance (1,831)      (21) (1,852) (1,429) 

Major Repairs expenditure (718) - (718) (765) 

Bad Debts (37) (12) (50) (226) 

Depreciation of housing properties (1,646)      - (1,646) (1,695) 

Other Costs (129) - (129) (62)

Commercial Spend - - -        - 

Operating costs on social housing lettings (6,122)      (1,120)       (7,242) (6,970)   

Operating surplus on social housing lettings 2,479       (118) 2,361 2,751    

Rent Loss Due to Voids (memorandum 

note)
221 230       
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3a. Particulars of income and expenditure from social housing lettings 

Association

General 

Needs and 

Sheltered 

Housing

Supported 

Housing

2021

Total

2020

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Income

Rent receivable (net of identifiable service 

charges)
7,440        492 7,932    7,759    

Service charges income 347 38 385       578       

Income for Support Services - 471 471       471       

Amortisation of grants 405 - 405 376       

Other Income 431 1 432 537       

Commercial Income - - - - 

Turnover from social lettings 8,623        1,002       9,625    9,721    

Cost

Management Costs (1,372)       (1,087)      (2,458)   (2,318)   

Service Charge Costs (389) - (389) (475) 

Routine Maintenance (1,831)       (21) (1,852) (1,429) 

Major Repairs expenditure (718) - (718) (765) 

Bad Debts (37) (12) (50) (226) 

Depreciation of housing properties (1,646)       - (1,646) (1,695) 

Other Costs (129) - (129) (62)

Commercial Spend - - - - 

Operating costs on social housing lettings (6,122)       (1,120)      (7,242)   (6,970)   

Operating surplus on social housing lettings 2,501        (118) 2,383 2,751    

Rent Loss Due to Voids (memorandum note) 221       230       
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4. Accommodation in management and development

At the end of the year accommodation in management for each class of accommodation was as follows: 

Group Association

2021 2020 2021 2020

No No No No

Owned by Cadywn

Social housing - properties 1,363     1,363     1,363     1,363     

Hostel accomdation - bed spaces 52         52         52         52         

Substance mis-use - bed spaces 6 6 6 6 

Hostel family - bed spaces 26         26         26         26         

1,447     1,447     1,447     1,447     

Managed by Cadwyn

Can-do lettings 89         111       89         111       

Four walls - 93 - 93 

Calon Adref 1 1 1 1 

Temporary accomodation 294       330       294       330       

The Mill 180       69         180       69         

564       604       564       604       

Units in development

Social housing - properties 100       6 100       6 

Open market sales - properties 35         -        -        -        

Retail units - properties 2 -        -        -        

137       6 100       6 

Total units 2,148     2,057     2,111     2,057     5. Operating surplus

The operating surplus is arrived at after charging: 

Group Association

2021 2020 2021 2020

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Depreciation 1,750     1,695     1,750     1,695     

Auditors' remuneration in their capacity as auditors 18         15         18         15         

Auditors' remuneration in respect of other services 5 2 3 2 

Losses from bad debts for service charges and rents receivable 151       222       151       222       

6. Interest receivable and other income
Group Association

2021 2020 2021 2020

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Interest receivable and similar income - 3 52         3 
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7. Interest payable and similar charges

Group Association

2021 2020 2021 2020

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Interest on loans repayable in instalments within five years 1,533     900       1,533     900       

Interest on loans repayable in instalments wholly or partly in more 

than five years

155       627       155       627       

Breakage costs 2,173     - 2,173 -        

Capitalised Interest (41) (54) (41) (54) 

Imputed Interest from effective interest rate 31         135 31         135 

Finance charge on re-measurement of pension liability -        -        -        -        

Remeasurements - impact of any change in assumptions -        -        -        -        

Net Interest expense (pension) 28         68         28         68         

HFG finance cost contribution (53) (52) (53) (52) 

3,826     1,624     3,826     1,624     

Imputed Interest from effective interest rates relates to loan acquisition costs (e.g. commitment fees). 
Previously these were capitalised, now they are set against the available loan balance (creditor) and 
amortised over the minimum term of the associated financial instrument, using the effective interest 
method.  

Finance charge on re-measurement of pension liability reflects the Associations liability in respect of 
obligations to make future payments into the scheme in respect of the scheme trustees recovery plans. 
This now appears as a liability, representing the net present value of those future payment obligations, on 
the Statement of Financial Position.  

An average rate of interest set at 5% has been used to calculate the finance costs capitalised, except for 
development of The Wharf scheme where a rate of 2.5% has been used as other additional funding was 
obtained for this development. 
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8. Employees

Average monthly number of employees expressed as full time equivalents: 

Group Association

2021 2020 2021 2020

No No No No

Housing management / Maintenance 56         55         56         55         

Development 4 4 4 4 

Supported housing 28         30         28         30         

Administration 25         22         25         22         

113       111       113       111       

9. Employee costs:

Group Association

2021 2020 2021 2020

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Wages and salaries 2,940     2,874     2,933     2,874     

Social security costs 281       266       281       266       

Other pension costs 543       374       543       374       

3,764     3,514     3,757     3,514     

No emoluments were paid to the Board Members during the year (2020: £nil).  Total Expenses reimbursed to the Board 
Members for the year amounted to £nil due to majority of meetings being held online during the pandemic (2020: £248). 

The emoluments paid to the highest paid director excluding pension contributions were £113k (2020: £116k).  In 
comparison to the lowest paid employee this represents a ratio of 6.3:1. 

Aggregate emoluments payable to key management personnel in the year:- 

Basic salary 

(Gross & ER's 

NIC)

Benefits in 

Kind

Pension 

contributions

2021 

Total

2020 

Total

Aggregate emolumnets 315,325         - 35,184 350,509 435,438 

The 2020 totals included redundancy costs totalling £30,000.

The Group Chief Executive is an ordinary member of the pension scheme. No enhanced or special terms apply and 
the Association makes no contribution to any individual pension arrangement. 
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10. Board members and executives

The full time equivalent number of key management personnel whose remuneration payable (including pension costs) 
in the period fell within the following bands was: 

2021 2020 

£nil - - 
£1 - £50,000 2 5 
£50,001 - £60,000 6 4 
£60,001 - £70,000 - 1 
£70,001 - £80,000 1 - 
£80,001 - £90,000 2 2 
£90,001 - £100,000 - - 
£100,001 - £110,000 - - 
£110,001 - £120,000 1 2 

Pension costs are shown as contributions paid on the senior executives ‘behalf.  The Chief Executive is a member of 
the Social Housing Pension Scheme on the same basis as other members of the Association.  Pension contributions 
made to the Social Housing Pension Scheme on behalf of the Chief Executive were calculated on the same basis as 
other eligible pension scheme members.  No enhanced or special terms are applied. Total expenses reimbursed to 
the senior executives for the year amounted to £1,114 (2020: £2,107). 

11. Tax on surplus on ordinary activities

Group Association

2021 2020 2021 2020

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Current tax reconciliation

Taxable (loss)/surplus on ordinary activities before tax 203 - 203 -

Theoretical tax at UK corporation tax rate

Group – (19% (2019:19%) 39 - 39 -

Depreciation - - - -

Other adjustments 22 - 22 -

Non-taxable income - - - -

Losses utilised in the year - - - -

Current tax charge 61 0 61 0
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12. Tangible fixed assets – properties (Group)

GROUP

Social Housing 

Properties held 

for letting

Social Housing 

Properties for 

letting under 

construction

Physical 

adaption works Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cost

At 1 April 2020 106,481 12,499 1,476 120,456    

Additions 549 5,163 206 5,918         

Schemes completed in year 949 (949) - - 

Transfers - - - - 

Reclassification (to)/from investment properties - 690 - 690 

Reclassification (to)/from stock - (1,257) - (1,257) 

Disposals (258) - - (258) 

At 31 March 2021 107,721 16,146 1,682 125,549    

Depreciation

At 1 April 2020 (21,974) - - (21,974)      

Charged in year (1,752) - - (1,752)        

Eliminated on disposal 201 - - 201            

At 31 March 2021 (23,525) - - (23,525)      

Net book value

At 31 March 2021 84,196 16,146 1,682 102,024    

At 31 March 2020 84,507 12,499 1,476 98,482       

Development administration and overhead costs amounting to £412,403 (2020: £432,036) have been capitalised 

and included in the above.

Additions to completed properties held for letting 2021 
£000 

2020 
£000 

Replacement of components 549 1,114 
Purchase of existing properties - - 
Developments 949 51 

Total additions 1,498 1,165 
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12a. Tangible fixed assets – properties (Association) 

Association

Social Housing 

Properties held 

for letting

Social Housing 

Properties for 

letting under 

construction

Physical 

adaption works Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cost

At 1 April 2020 106,481 12,499 1,476 120,456    

Additions 549 5,163 206 5,918         

Schemes completed in year 949 (949) - - 

Transfers - - - - 

Reclassification (to)/from investment properties - 750 - 750 

Reclassification (to)/from stock - (137) - (137) 

Disposals (258) (1,180) - (1,438) 

At 31 March 2021 107,721 16,146 1,682 125,549    

Depreciation

At 1 April 2020 (21,974) - - (21,974)      

Charged in year (1,752) - - (1,752)        

Eliminated on disposal 201 - - 201            

At 31 March 2021 (23,525) - - (23,525)      

Net book value

At 31 March 2021 84,196 16,146 1,682 102,024    

At 31 March 2020 84,507 12,499 1,476 98,482       

Development administration and overhead costs amounting to £412,403 (2020: £432,036) have been capitalised 

and included in the above.

Additions to completed properties held for letting 2021 
£000 

2020 
£000 

Replacement of components 549 1,114 
Purchase of existing properties - - 
Developments 949 51 

Total additions 1,498 1,165 
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13. Investments
Group Association

2021 2020 2021 2020

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Commercial properties

At 1 April 2020 2,220      2,290      2,220      2,290      

Additions 137         -          -          -          

Transfers (to)/from housing property (690) - (750) - 

Transfers (to)/from other tangible fixed assets - - - -

Change in fair value of investment properties - (70) - (70) 

At 31 March 2021 1,667      2,220      1,470      2,220      

Other investments

At 1 April 2020 -          -          -          -          

Additions -          -          -          -          

Disposals -          -          -          -          

At 31 March 2021 -          -          -          -          

Total investments 1,667      2,220      1,470      2,220      

During the year tenants vacated an investment property and it was transferred to development at cost and valuation of 
£750k.  Formal valuations have been carried out, by independent qualified valuers, for all the completed commercial 
units held at the reporting date.  The valuers valued the commercial units at £1.515m which is a small increase in the 
current value.  This has not been adjusted for in the financial statements. As at the year end, there is a value of £197k 
of Commercial units under development, these are currently held at cost and will be adjusted for market value once 
completed. 
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14. Tangible fixed assets – other (Group and Association)

Other 

property 

assets

Motor 

vehicles

Office 

furniture & 

equipment

Property 

furniture & 

equipment

Capital 

plant Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cost

At 1 April 2020 901 393          2,092 1,094 25 4,505         

Additions - -           214 2 34 250            

Reallocation (74) (32) 106 - 

Disposals - (32) - - (82) (114)           

At 31 March 2021 901 361          2,232 1,064 83 4,641         

Depreciation

At 1 April 2020 (447) (272) (1,596) (631) (16) (2,962)        

Charged in year (34) (32) (118) (42) (3) (229) 

Eliminated on disposal - 29 - - - 29 

At 31 March 2021 (481) (275) (1,714) (673) (19) (3,162)        

Net book value

At 31 March 2021 420 86 518 391 64 1,479         

At 31 March 2020 454 121          496 463 9 1,543         
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15. Properties for sale and work in progress

Group Association

2021 2020 2021 2020

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Properties for sale and work in progress 2,692     52 187       52 

2,692     52 187 52 

At the year-end the Association had 1 property for sale.  These were transferred from fixed asset to stock at the year 
end.  The property has been included at net book value. 

The balance held by the Group includes amounts for site at The Wharf currently being developed for sale. 

16. Debtors

Group Association

2021 2020 2021 2020

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Due within one year

Rent and service charge receivable 480         316         480         316         

Less: provision for bad and doubtful debts (352) (220) (352) (220) 

128         96           128         96           

Capital trade receivables 52           - 52 -          

Other debtors and prepayments 1,804      1,371      1,804      1,371      

Less: provision for bad and doubtful debts - (115) - (115) 

Group balances - - 38           -          

1,985      1,352      2,023      1,352      

Group Association

2021 2020 2021 2020

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Due in more than one year

Housing finance grant 931         978         931         978         

Interest paid in advance 267         267         267         267         

Group balances -          -          3,052      -          

1,198      1,245      4,250      1,245      

3,183      2,597      6,274      2,597      

17. Cash at bank

The Association currently has a £21m revolving credit facility with its bankers. This was renewed for a five year term 
in Apr-20 and an option to extend to six years was subsequently exercised. This is currently undrawn so £21m is 
available for immediate drawdown (2020: £8m). In addition to this the Association has a £500K overdraft facility. A 
minimum cash balance of £500K is maintained above this in line with the Treasury Management Policy agreed by 
Board in the year.  

The recommendations of the Treasury Review were implanted in the year with three legacy loans repaid, one loan 
refinanced and the RCF renewed. In addition a new Private Placement of £41m, of which £10m remains undrawn, 
was secured providing long term fixed rate funding.  
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18. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Group Association

2021 2020 2021 2020

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Creditors

Loan interest 342         62           342         62           

Other taxation and social security 101         74           117         74           

Rent and service charges paid in advance 293         306         293         306         

Trade Creditors 82           486         77           486         

Maintenance accruals 157         226         157         226         

Accruals 426         544         426         544         

Housing Loans 1,508      24,888    1,508      24,888    

Other Creditors 589         60           589         60           

Amounts owed in respect of housing properties under 

construction

- 517 - 517 

Recycled Capital Grant 953         153 953         153 

Grants in advance 1,183      3,131      1,183      3,131      

5,633      30,447   5,644      30,447   

Group Association

2021 2020 2021 2020

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Government grant creditor

Government grants 405         360         405         360         

405         360         405         360         

6,039      30,807   6,050      30,807   

Included within Housing Loans are the Housing loans for land.   In accordance with the terms of the loan some has 
been repaid in the period with the balance repayable within one year £870k (2020: £4.792m). 

19. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

Group Association

2021 2020 2021 2020

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Debt (note 20) 46,453    16,782    46,453    16,782    

46,453   16,782   46,453   16,782   
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20. Debt analysis

Based on the lender's earliest repayment date, borrowings are repayable as follows: 

Group Association

2021 2020 2021 2020

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Within one year 1,508      24,888    1,508      24,888    

Between one and two years 4,513      6,231      4,513      6,231      

Between two and five years 1,474      1,940      1,474      1,940      

More than five years 40,467    8,611      40,467    8,611      

47,962   41,670   47,962   41,670   

Terms of repayment, interest rates & security 

Housing loans are secured by specific charges on the Association’s housing properties. The interest rates are fixed at 
between 2.93% and 12.48% or vary with the market. The loans are repayable between the years 2022 to 2055. The 
THFC loan is repayable as a bullet at maturity in 2042. The Fresh loan will be fully repaid in 2022.  

Under FRS102 acquisition costs are set against the available loan balance (creditor) and amortised over the minimum 
term of the associated financial instrument using the effective interest method. At the end of the year there were 
£514,541 (2020: £173,739) of fees still to amortise. The rise in the year was due to the restatement of Barclays 
facilities and the Private Placement with Westbourne.
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21. Social housing and government grants (Group and Association)

Social Housing 

Properties held 

for letting

Social Housing 

Properties for 

letting under 

construction Total

£'000 £'000 £'000

Government grants received

At 1 April 2020 59,512 2,856 62,368       

Received in year 410 4,654 5,064         

Transferred (to)/from grants in advance (245) 2,193 1,948         

Transferred on completion 453 (453)                  - 

Transferred (to)/from recycled grants - (800) (800) 

Disposals - - - 

At 31 March 2021 60,130 8,450 68,580       

Amortisation

At 1 April 2020 (10,200) - (10,200) 

Amortised in year (463) - (463)           

Eliminated on disposal - - - 

At 31 March 2021 (10,663) - (10,663) 

Value of amortised grants

At 31 March 2021 49,467 8,450 57,917       

At 31 March 2020 49,312 2,856 52,168       

Recycled grant 2021 2020

£'000 £'000

At 1 April 2020 153 78 

Additions 800 75 

Disposals - - 

At 31 March 2021 953 153            

The recycled grant is made up from the SHG on disposed properties.   This will be used on another development 
following approval from Welsh Government.   

To be amortised as follows: 

Group Association

2021 2020 2021 2020

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Within one year 405         360         405         360         

Between one and two years 405         360         405         360         

Between two and five years 1,216      1,080      1,216      1,080      

More than five years 55,890    50,368    55,890    50,368    

57,917   52,168   57,917   52,168   
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22. Operating leases

Cadwyn HA as Lessee: Motor 

vehicles

Office 

equipment

Land & 

buildings

2021 

Total

Group & Association £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Amounts payable within 1 year 10 8 1,324        1,341     

Amounts payable within 2-5 years 16 38 4,630        4,684     

Amounts payable in over 5 years - - 3,700        3,700     

Total 26 46 9,653        9,725     

Motor 

vehicles

Office 

equipment

Land & 

buildings

2020 

Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Amounts payable within 1 year 10 8 1,162        1,180     

Amounts payable within 2-5 years 26 - 4,019 4,045     

Amounts payable in over 5 years - - 4,247 4,247     

Total 36 8 9,428        9,472     

Cadwyn HA as Lessor: Motor 

vehicles

Office 

equipment

Land & 

buildings

2021 

Total

Group & Association £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Amounts payable within 1 year - - 115 115        

Amounts payable within 2-5 years - - 330 330        

Amounts payable in over 5 years - - 384 384        

Total - - 829 829        

Motor 

vehicles

Office 

equipment

Land & 

buildings

2020 

Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Amounts payable within 1 year - - 161 161        

Amounts payable within 2-5 years - - 421 421        

Amounts payable in over 5 years - - 490 490        

Total - - 1,072        1,072     

Group & Association
Pool cars

Office 

equipment
Property

2021 

Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Lease payments recognised in 

statement of comprehensive income 10 8 2,846        2,864     

Pool cars

Office 

equipment Property

2020 

Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Lease payments recognised in 

statement of comprehensive income 37 8 1,496        1,541     

In the year the following lease payments were recognised as an expense in the statement of 

comprehensive income:
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23. Social Housing Pension Scheme (Group and Association)

The company participates in the Social Housing Pension Scheme (the Scheme), a multi-employer scheme which 

provides benefits to some 500 non-associated employers. The Scheme is a defined benefit scheme in the UK.  The 

Scheme is subject to the funding legislation outlined in the Pensions Act 2004 which came into force on 30 December 

2005. This, together with documents issued by the Pensions Regulator and Technical Actuarial Standards issued by 

the Financial Reporting Council, set out the framework for funding defined benefit occupational pension schemes in the 

UK. 

The last triennial valuation of the scheme for funding purposes was carried out as at 30 September 2017. This valuation 

revealed a deficit of £1,522m. A Recovery Plan has been put in place with the aim of removing this deficit by 30 

September 2026.  

The Scheme is classified as a 'last-man standing arrangement'. Therefore the company is potentially liable for other 

participating employers' obligations if those employers are unable to meet their share of the scheme deficit following 

withdrawal from the Scheme. Participating employers are legally required to meet their share of the Scheme deficit on 

an annuity purchase basis on withdrawal from the Scheme. 

For financial years ending on or before 28 February 2019, it was not possible for the company to obtain sufficient 

information to enable it to account for the Scheme as a defined benefit scheme, therefore the company has accounted 

for the Scheme as a defined contribution scheme. 

For financial years ending on or after 31 March 2019, it is possible to obtain sufficient information to enable the company 

to account for the Scheme as a defined benefit scheme.   

For accounting purposes, a valuation of the scheme was carried out with an effective date of 30 September 2018. The 

liability figures from this valuation were rolled forward for accounting year-ends from 31 March 2019 to 29 February 

2020 inclusive. The liabilities are compared, at the relevant accounting date, with the company’s fair share of the 

Scheme’s total assets to calculate the company’s net deficit or surplus. 

Similarly, an actuarial valuation of the scheme was carried out as at 30 September 2019 to inform the liabilities for 

accounting year ends from 31 March 2020 to 28 February 2021 inclusive.  

Present values of defined benefit obligation, fair value of assets and defined benefit asset (liability) 

31 March 
2021 

£’000 

31 March 
2020 

£’000 

Fair value of plan assets 9,908 8,622 
Present value of defined benefit obligation 12,353 9,952 
(Deficit) in plan (2,445) (1,330) 
Unrecognised surplus - - 

Defined benefit asset (liability) to be recognised (2,445) (1,330) 

Recognition of the impact of the asset ceiling 
31 March 

2021 
£’000 

Impact of asset ceiling at start of period - 
Effect of the asset ceiling included in net interest cost - 
Actuarial losses (gains) on asset ceiling - 
Impact of asset ceiling at end of period -
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23. Social Housing Pension Scheme (Group and Association) (continued)

Reconciliation of opening and closing balances of the defined benefit obligation 

31-Mar

2021

£’000

Defined benefit obligation at start of period 9,952 

Current service cost 197 

Expenses 11 

Interest expense 235 

Contributions by plan participants 94 

Actuarial losses (gains) due to scheme experience (129)         

Actuarial losses (gains) due to changes in demographic assumptions (86) 

Actuarial losses (gains) due to changes in financial assumptions 2,281       

Benefits paid and expenses (202)         

Liabilities acquired in a business combination - 

Liabilities extinguished on settlements - 

Losses (gains) on curtailments - 

Losses (gains) due to benefit changes - 

Exchange rate changes - 

Defined benefit obligation at end of period 12,353     

Reconciliation of opening and closing balances of the fair value of plan assets 

31-Mar

2021

£’000

Fair value of plan assets at start of period 8,622 

Interest income 207 

Experience on plan assets (excluding amounts included in interest income) - gain (loss) 726 

Contributions by the employer 461 

Contributions by plan participants 94 

Benefits paid and expenses (202)         

Assets acquired in a business combination - 

Assets distributed on settlements - 

Exchange rate changes - 

Fair value of plan assets at end of period 9,908       

The actual return on plan assets (including any changes in share of assets) over the period from 31 March 2020 to 31 
March 2021 was £933,000. 
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23. Social Housing Pension Scheme (Group and Association) (continued)

Defined benefit costs recognised in statement of comprehensive income (SOCI) 

31-Mar

2021

£’000

Current service cost 197 

Expenses 11 

Net interest expense 28 

Losses (gains) on business combinations - 

Losses (gains) on settlements - 

Losses (gains) on curtailments - 

Losses (gains) due to benefit changes - 

Defined benefit costs recognised in statement of comprehensive income (SoCI) 236 

Defined benefit costs recognised in other comprehensive income 

31-Mar

2021

£’000

Experience on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest cost) - gain (loss) 726 

Experience gains and losses arising on the plan liabilities - gain (loss) 129 

Effects of changes in the demographic assumptions underlying the present value of the 

defined benefit obligation - gain (loss)

86 

Effects of changes in the financial assumptions underlying the present value of the defined 

benefit obligation - gain (loss)

(2,281)      

Total actuarial gains and losses (before restriction due to some of the surplus not being 

recognisable) - gain (loss)

(1,340)      

Effects of changes in the amount of surplus that is not recoverable (excluding amounts 

included in net interest cost) - gain (loss)

- 

Total amount recognised in other comprehensive income - gain (loss) (1,340)      
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23. Social Housing Pension Scheme (Group and Association) (continued)

Assets 

31-Mar 31-Mar

2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Absolute Return 547 449        

Alternative Risk Premia 373 603        

Corporate Bond Fund 585 492        

Credit Relative Value 312 236        

Distressed Opportunities 286 166        

Emerging Markets Debt 400 261        

Fund of Hedge Funds 1         5 

Global Equity 1,579   1,261      

Infrastructure 661      642        

Insurance-Linked Securities 238      265        

Liability Driven Investment 2,518   2,861      

Long Lease Property 194      149        

Net Current Assets 60       37 

Opportunistic Illiquid Credit 252      209        

Opportunistic Credit 272      -         

High yield 297      -         

Over 15 Year Gilts -      -         

Liquid Credit 118      4 

Private Debt 236      174        

Property 206      190        

Risk Sharing 361      291        

Secured Income 412      327        

Total assets 9,908   8,622      

None of the fair values of the assets shown above include any direct investments in the employer’s own financial 
instruments or any property occupied by, or other assets used by, the employer. 
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23. Social Housing Pension Scheme (Group and Association) (continued)

Key assumptions 

31-Mar-21 31-Mar-20

% per annum % per annum

Discount Rate 2.21% 2.35%

Inflation (RPI) 3.07% 2.55%

Inflation (CPI) 2.57% 1.55%

Salary Growth 3.57% 2.55%

Allowance for commutation of pension for cash at retirement (of 

maximum allowance)

75.00% 75.00%

Life expectancy at age 65 years 31-Mar-21 31-Mar-20

Male retiring in 2021 21.3 21.5

Female retiring in 2021 23.2 23.3

Male retiring in 2041 22.6 22.9

Female retiring in 2041 24.8 24.5
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23a. TPT Retirement Solutions – The Growth Plan (Group and Association) 

The company participates in the scheme, a multi-employer scheme which provides benefits to some 950 non-
associated participating employers. The scheme is a defined benefit scheme in the UK. It is not possible for the 
company to obtain sufficient information to enable it to account for the scheme as a defined benefit scheme. 
Therefore it accounts for the scheme as a defined contribution scheme. 

The scheme is subject to the funding legislation outlined in the Pensions Act 2004 which came into force on 30 
December 2005. This, together with documents issued by the Pensions Regulator and Technical Actuarial 
Standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council, set out the framework for funding defined benefit occupational 
pension schemes in the UK. 

The scheme is classified as a 'last-man standing arrangement'. Therefore the company is potentially liable for other 
participating employers' obligations if those employers are unable to meet their share of the scheme deficit following 
withdrawal from the scheme. Participating employers are legally required to meet their share of the scheme deficit 
on an annuity purchase basis on withdrawal from the scheme. 

A full actuarial valuation for the scheme was carried out at 30 September 2017. This valuation showed assets of 
£794.9m, liabilities of £926.4m and a deficit of £131.5m.  To eliminate this funding shortfall, the Trustee has asked 
the participating employers to pay additional contributions to the scheme as follows: 

Deficit contributions 

From 1 April 2019 to 31 January 2025: £11,243,000 per annum 
payable monthly and increasing by 

3% each on 1st April) 

Unless a concession has been agreed with the Trustee the term to 31 January 2025 applies. 

Note that the scheme’s previous valuation was carried out with an effective date of 30 September 2014. This 
valuation showed assets of £793.4m, liabilities of £969.9m and a deficit of £176.5m.  To eliminate this funding 
shortfall, the Trustee has asked the participating employers to pay additional contributions to the scheme as follows: 

Deficit contributions 

From 1 April 2016 to 30 September 

2025 
£12,945,440 per annum 

payable monthly and increasing by 

3% each on 1st April) 

From 1 April 2016 to 30 September 

2028 
£54,560 per annum 

payable monthly and increasing by 

3% each on 1st April) 

The recovery plan contributions are allocated to each participating employer in line with their estimated share of the 
Series 1 and Series 2 scheme liabilities.  

Where the scheme is in deficit and where the company has agreed to a deficit funding arrangement the company 
recognises a liability for this obligation. The amount recognised is the net present value of the deficit reduction 
contributions payable under the agreement that relates to the deficit. The present value is calculated using the 
discount rate detailed in these disclosures. The unwinding of the discount rate is recognised as a finance cost. 
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23a. TPT Retirement Solutions – The Growth Plan (Group and Association) - (continued…) 

P r e s e n t  v a l u e  o f  c o n t r i b u t i o n s  

R e c o n c i l i a t i o n  o f  o p e n i n g  a n d  c l o s i n g  p r o v i s i o n

Period Ending 
31 March 2021 

(£s) 

Period Ending 
31 March 2020 

(£s) 

Provision at start of period 879 1,067 

Unwinding of the discount factor (interest expense) 20 13 

Deficit contribution paid (182) (177) 

Remeasurements - impact of any change in assumptions 25 (24) 

Remeasurements - amendments to the contribution schedule - - 

Provision at end of period 742 879 

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE IMPACT 

Period Ending 
31 March 2021 

(£s) 

Period Ending 
31 March 2020 

(£s) 

Interest expense 20 13 

Remeasurements – impact of any change in assumptions 25 (24) 

Remeasurements – amendments to the contribution schedule - - 

Contributions paid in respect of future service* * * 

Costs recognised in income and expenditure account * * 

*includes defined contribution schemes and future service contributions (i.e. excluding any deficit reduction payments)
to defined benefit schemes which are treated as defined contribution schemes. To be completed by the company.

ASSUMPTIONS 

31 March 2021 
% per annum 

31 March 2020 
% per annum 

31 March 2019 
% per annum 

Rate of discount 0.66 2.53 1.39 

The discount rates shown above are the equivalent single discount rates which, when used to discount the future 
recovery plan contributions due, would give the same results as using a full AA corporate bond yield curve to discount 
the same recovery plan contributions. 

31 March 2021 

(£s) 

31 March 2020 

(£s) 

31 March 2019 

(£s) 

Present value of provision 742 879 1,067 
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23a. TPT Retirement Solutions – The Growth Plan (Group and Association) - (continued…) 

The following schedule details the deficit contributions agreed between the company and the scheme at each year end 

period: 

DEFICIT CONTRIBUTIONS SCHEDULE 

Year ending 
31 March 2021 

(£s) 

31 March 2020 

(£s) 

31 March 2019 

(£s) 

Year 1 188 182 
177 

Year 2 193 188 
182 

Year 3 199 193 
188 

Year 4 171 199 
193 

Year 5 - 171 
199 

Year 6 - - 
171 

Year 7 - - 
- 

Year 8 - - 
- 

Year 9 - - 
- 

Year 10 - - 
- 

Year 11 - - 
- 

Year 12 - - 
- 

Year 13 - - 
- 

Year 14 - - 
- 

Year 15 - - 
- 

Year 16 - - 
- 

Year 17 - - 
- 

Year 18 - - 
- 

Year 19 - - 
- 

Year 20 - - 
- 

The company must recognise a liability measured as the present value of the contributions payable that arise from the deficit 

recovery agreement and the resulting expense in the income and expenditure account i.e. the unwinding of the discount rate as 

a finance cost in the period in which it arises. 
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23b. CARE pensions (Group and Association) 

A Career average related pension (CARE) has been offered through the SHPS scheme since April 2010. Cadwyn 
pays contributions at the rate of 9.66% of earnings and members pay contributions at the rate of 7.04%.   As at the 
date of Statement of Financial Position there were 29 active members of the Scheme employed by Cadwyn Housing 
Association. The annual pensionable payroll in respect of these members was £930,696.  Cadwyn Housing 
Association continues to offer membership of the CARE Scheme to all its employees. 

23c. Defined Contributions (Group and Association) 

A defined contribution (DC) section of the SHPS Scheme has been available since September 2010. Cadwyn pays 
contributions at the rate of 6% of earnings and members pay contributions at the rate of 4%. 

As at the date of Statement of Financial Position there were 47 active members of the Scheme employed by Cadwyn 
Housing Association. The annual pensionable payroll in respect of these members was £996,886 

Cadwyn Housing Association continues to offer membership of the DC Scheme to all its employees. 

24. Share capital

2021 
£ 

2020 
£ 

Shares of one pound each fully paid and issued 41 41 

The shareholders have no equity interest in the Association and have no right to dividends or distributions on winding 
up. Shares cancelled or redeemed are written back to reserves.   

25. Analysis of changes in net debt

Group
At 1 April 

2020

Cash 

flows

Movement 

in creditors 

due within 

one year

At 31 

March 

2021

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cash at bank and in hand 4,584      2,828    - 7,412 

Housing loans due less than one year (24,888)   - 23,380 (1,508) 

Housing loans due in more than one year (24,782)   1,709    (23,380) (46,453)   

(45,086)   4,537    - (40,549) 

Association
At 1 April 

2020

Cash 

flows

Movement 

in creditors 

due within 

one year

At 31 

March 

2021

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cash at bank and in hand 4,584      2,548    - 7,132 

Housing loans due less than one year (24,888)   - 23,380 (1,508) 

Housing loans due in more than one year (24,782)   1,709    (23,380) (46,453)   

(45,086)   4,257    - (40,829) 
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26. Net cash flow from operating activities

Group Association

2021 2020 2021 2020

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

(Deficit)/surplus for the year (1,402)      1,010       (1,305)       1,010         

Adjustments for non-cash items;

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 1,981       1,813       1,981         1,813         

Amortisation of Government Grants (463) (346) (463) (346) 

Loss on sale of fixed assets - - - - 

Change in fair value of investment properties - 70 - 70 

Re-measurement of pension liability (253) (90) (253) (90) 

NuLife b/fwd investment - (43) - (43) 

Working capital movements

(Increase) / Decrease in trade and other debtors (615) 1,407 (615) 1,407 

(Decrease) / Increase in trade and other creditors (351) (601) (340) (601) 

Adjustments for investing or financing :

Interest payable 3,795       1,624       3,795         1,624         

Interest receivable - (3) (52) (3) 

Taxation 61 - 61 - 

Net cash generated from operating activities 2,753       4,841       2,809         4,841         

27. Capital commitments

Group Association

2021 2020 2021 2020

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Capital Expenditure

Contracted less certified 11,277  14,524 7,841    14,524       

Expenditure authorised by the Board, but not contracted 45,694  27,525 45,694 27,525       

56,971  42,049 53,535 42,049       

The above commitments will be financed primarily through borrowings, which are available for draw-down under existing 
loan arrangements, with the balance funded through social housing grant. 
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28. Related party transactions

The Association lets accommodation to both current and former tenants who are Board Members.  Currently, one tenant 
has been appointed to the Board.  The tenancy has been let on the Association’s standard terms and cannot use their 
position to their advantage. 

Igneous is a subsidiary company of Cadwyn Housing Association (the parent and ultimate controlling party).   Igneous 
has no employees so through an employee sharing agreement salary costs of £7K were recharged to Igneous for time 
spent working on the subsidiary by key management personnel.  During the year Cadwyn sold land at cost of £1.118m 
to Igneous for block F of the wharf development.   This comprises of 35 units for open market sales.  These are due for 
completion in January 2022.  The profits from the sale of these units will be donated back to Cadwyn as Gift Aid.   During 
the year invoices totalling £31k were paid by Cadwyn and recharged to Igneous for legal and professional fees on the 
wharf development.  Cadwyn has provided on lending of £3m to Igneous and charged £52k of interest at market rate.   
At the year end there was a debtor of £38k in Cadwyn’s accounts and a subsequent creditor in Igneous.    

29. Contingent assets/liabilities

The Group receives capital grant from the Welsh Government, which is used to fund the acquisition and development 
of housing properties and their components. In certain circumstances upon disposal of grant funded properties the 
Group is required to recycle this grant by crediting the Recycled Capital Grant Fund. 

Social Housing Grant may become repayable in the following circumstances: 

• Disposal of a property (including disposals on assisted ownership terms) other than to another RSL;
• Change of use of a property to a use that would be eligible for a lesser amount of grant;
• Change of use of a property to a use that would not be eligible for a grant;
• Demolition of a property where the site does not form part of a new social housing development by a RSL;
• Disposal giving rise to a repayment of discount under Schedule 2 to the Housing Association Act 1985.

Social Housing Grant (SHG) is repayable under certain circumstances primarily following the sale of a property but will 
normally be restricted to the net proceeds of sale.   However, the Association is able to recycle the grant over an 
unspecified period although this will be periodically reviewed by Welsh Government.  The total amount of SHG received 
to date is £66,217,000 (2020 £62,553,000).  The total amount of SHG amortised to date is £10,663,000 (2020 
£10,200,000. 

The Association is a participating employer member of the Social Housing Pension Scheme (SHPS).  An employer debt 
could arise on withdrawal from the Social Housing Pension Scheme.  The estimated employer debt for the Association 
on withdrawal from the SHPS plan based on the financial position of the scheme as at 30th September 2019 was 
£10.8m.  At the date of approval of these financial statements no update to this position was available.  As events which 
could crystallise the debt are unlikely to arise in the foreseeable future, no specific provision is deemed necessary. 

30. Government Grant Assistance

During the year the Group and Association received £44,249 of funding relating to the Coronavirus Job Retention 
Scheme. 




